
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Overview Scrutiny 
Committee

Members of the Overview Scrutiny Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned 
to attend a meeting to be held at the Civic Centre, Gravesend, Kent on Thursday, 10 June 2021 
at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted.

The Government legislation in response to COVID-19 to permit remote attendance by Elected 
Members has now expired. Therefore, this meeting will be conducted in person and with socially 
distanced Elected Members and officers in attendance. This meeting will be streamed live and can 
be watched via Gravesham Borough Council’s YouTube channel:

www.youtube.com/graveshamtv 

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 6)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A will be considered in private or any 
items in Part B in public 

5. Call ins 
Items called in from the Cabinet meeting of 1 June 2021

(Please ensure you have access to the Cabinet agenda for 1 June 2021 
previously circulated to Members).

6. Consideration of the Recommendations of the Maritime Strategy Scrutiny 
Review 

Report to follow

http://www.youtube.com/graveshamtv


7. Scrutiny Review of Street Cleanliness, littering, and Fly-tipping throughout 
the Borough 

(Pages 7 - 12)

 To agree the Draft Terms of Reference and Composition of the 
sub-group 

8. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

9. Private Items 
To move, if required, that pursuant to section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in private

10.Call ins 
Items called in from the Cabinet meeting of 1 June 2021

(Please ensure you have access to the Cabinet agenda for 1 June 2021 
previously circulated to Members).

Members

Cllr Jordan Meade (Chair)
Cllr Baljit Hayre (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Gurjit Kaur Bains
Sarah Gow
Leslie Hills
Diane Morton
Elizabeth Mulheran
Christina Rolles
Peter Scollard

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Overview Scrutiny Committee

Thursday, 1 April 2021 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Jordan Meade (Chair)
Cllr Steve Thompson (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
Leslie Hills
Emma Morley
Elizabeth Mulheran
Christina Rolles
Peter Scollard
Gurjit Bains

Darren Everden Assistant Director (IT & Transformation)
Michelle Batstone Corporate Change Manager
Chris Wakeford Committee Services Manager 
Clive Boorman Technical Services Support Officer

32. Apologies 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Alan Ridgers; Cllr Gurjit Bains attended as 
his substitute.

33. Minutes 

The Chair advised the Committee that the Maritime Strategy Review would have been on 
tonight’s agenda but because the Council has now enter the pre-election period (purdah) 
ahead of the local elections on 6 May it was agreed with the Leader of the Council that it 
would be best that the review be brought back to the Committee after the elections.

The minutes of the meeting of the Overview Scrutiny Committee held on 11 February 2021 
were signed by the Chair.

34. Declarations of Interest 

No Declarations of Interest were made.

35. Response to Member Survey - December 2020 

The Assistant Director (IT & Transformation) and Corporate Change Manager provided the 
Overview Scrutiny Committee with the findings from the recent Member Survey, specifically 
in relation to technology and future Member requirements, for consideration.

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Overview Scrutiny Committee 1.04.2021

2

The Corporate Change Manager explained that there were a number of areas of 
concern/consideration raised by Members through the survey that covered the following 
areas:

 The rollout of Microsoft 365 and associated training for Members to support them in 
the use of the new software.

 Improvements to hardware provided to Members – consideration of changes to the 
actual devices used by Members along with additional hardware, such as monitors, 
to support Members in their activities.

 E-mails – concerns regarding the reliability of the e-mail server and the potential for 
re-directing e-mails if possible.

 Additional training for Members to support the use of virtual meetings to engage with 
constituents.

 Training for Members on the safe use of social media. This would include exploring 
options with Members to enable them to undertake surveys with their constituents 
through social media and other mechanisms as required.

 Consideration of a specific case management system to enable Members to manage 
their constituency casework.

 Undertaking a review of the council’s website to ensure it is user friendly and easy to 
navigate.

The Corporate Change Manager highlighted Appendix 2 to the Committee which provides a 
detailed response from officers regarding each of the areas raised, along with identification 
of specific actions where necessary.

The Assistant Director (IT & Transformation) and Corporate Change Manager fielded 
questions from the Committee and highlighted the following:

 A more developed Social Media training, that includes how to use social media 
professionally whilst representing the Council, will be provided to Members in due 
course.

 The general rollout of Microsoft 365 will begin in June 2021. Members will receive a 
handover session and tailored one to one training. This will be followed by additional 
training once Members have had the ability to use the system and provide feedback.

 Casework software for Members will be explored once the rollout of Microsoft 365 is 
complete.

 An assessment will be made on the suitability and financial impact of alternative 
hardware for Members (e.g. Surface Pro, Laptop etc). A range of sample devices will 
be made available for Members to try so they can decide their personal preference. 
The results can then be built into future provision. This review will be actioned as 
soon as practicable.

 Microsoft 365 and Outlook will be completely cloud based. As well as accessing 
emails on tablets / smart phones, Members will have the ability to access the Outlook 
webmail component from any device.

 For issues with iPads / emails etc it is more straightforward to have the iPad returned 
to the Civic Centre to resolve the matter promptly.

 Members could use their own devices, rather than Council devices, for Microsoft 365. 
This would speed up the rollout to Members. The Assistant Director (IT & 
Transformation) agreed to look into this matter.

 Microsoft 365 is safe as long as we satisfy the requirement of password protection.

Page 4



Overview Scrutiny Committee 1.04.2021

3

 The Council has recently ordered a new cloud based telephone system called 
RingCentral which should be in place soon.

Members highlighted the following areas for consideration:

 iPad keyboards are too small.
 The Council should look at Member IT provision at other authorities (e.g. KCC issue 

Members with a laptop and iPhone). 
The Assistant Director (IT & Transformation) agreed to look into this matter.

 The Mod.gov system has not worked well for some Members during the pandemic 
(e.g. difficulty accessing Part B etc). Microsoft SharePoint might be a better option for 
sharing documents.
The Assistant Director (IT & Transformation) advised the Committee that SharePoint 
is something that could be considered in the future but there is a lot of work that 
would be needed to be completed to get it up and running. Once Microsoft 365 has 
been rolled out; other projects can be considered.

The Corporate Change Manager thanked the Committee for their feedback and explained 
that she would speak to the Leader and Chief Executive to map out the actions in Appendix 
2 before taking a report to Cabinet.

Resolved that the Committee noted the report and the feedback Members had 
provided.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.21 pm

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Overview Scrutiny Committee

Date: 10 June 2021

Reporting officer: Chris Wakeford, Committee Services Manager

Subject: Review of Street Cleanliness, littering, and Fly-tipping 
throughout the Borough

Purpose and summary of report: 
Members of the Committee are invited to consider the terms of reference for the following 
Scrutiny review selected by the Committee:

 Review of Street Cleanliness, littering, and Fly-tipping throughout the Borough

Recommendations:
1. That the Committee consider the terms of reference for the review, provide any 

comments / amendments and agree a final version.
2. That the Committee decide the composition of the review sub-group
3. That the Committee consider the timescales and resources for the review

Background

1.1 As per Annex 2.5 of the council’s Constitution, the Overview Scrutiny Committee 
is required to “…establish and maintain a continuing programme of Topic 
Reviews".  

1.2 On 11 July 2019 the Committee agreed to conduct a review of Street Cleanliness, 
littering, and Fly-tipping throughout the Borough

1.3 The Terms of reference and composition of the review group were agreed by the 
Committee in September 2019 

1.4 In January 2020 the Committee agreed to defer the review until May 2020. The 
review was then postponed further due to the Covid-19 Pandemic.

1.5 The Committee are invited to revisit the review and agree the terms of reference 
and composition of the review sub-group.

Page 7 Agenda Item 7



2

2. Terms of Reference

2.1 Members of the Committee are invited to consider, comment, amend (if 
necessary) and agree the Terms of Reference for the review as attached at 
Appendix 2 

3. Background Papers

3.1 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 8



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

     

Legal None identified at this stage.

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

To be confirmed once the terms of reference have been agreed but it is envisaged 
that the topic recommendations will be value for money for the Borough.

Risk 
Assessment

To be confirmed / assessed once the terms of reference have been agreed.

Screening for Equality ImpactsEquality 
Impact 
Assessment Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

Strategic Objective 1 - Safer Gravesham
- Deliver on our ‘green agenda’ by increasing the levels of recycling and 

reducing the amount of residual household waste Generate service 
efficiencies to maintain weekly, effective rubbish collections.

- Deliver a quality built and green environment; keeping streets clean and 
maintaining a high standard of local horticulture

- Use all available powers to pursue anyone damaging the health of the local 
environment (e.g. dog fouling, littering, fly-tipping etc).

Climate 
Change

To be confirmed / assessed once the terms of reference have been agreed.

Crime and 
Disorder

To be confirmed / assessed once the terms of reference have been agreed.

Digital and 
website 
implications

To be confirmed / assessed once the terms of reference have been agreed.

Page 9



4

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

To be confirmed / asessed once the terms of reference have been agreed.

Page 10



Overview Scrutiny Committee – Topic Review Terms of Reference

 Review of Street Cleanliness, littering, and Fly-tipping throughout the 
Borough

 September 2019

1. Membership of the review sub-group

1.1 The political representation on the sub-group will be as follows:

1.1.1 TBC ( )

1.1.2 TBC ( )

1.1.3 TBC ( )

1.1.4 TBC ( )

1.1.5 TBC ( )

1.2 The sub-group will be supported in their activities by the Committee Services Team.

1.3 Additional support will be provided, specific to the review, as required from officers across 
the council.

2 Work plan of the sub-group

2.1 Overall aim of the review: Cleaner Streets

The sub-group will look at the following areas:

2.1.1 WORKSTREAM 1 – EDUCATION, PREVENTION & COMMUNICATION 

- How do we get the small minority who fly-tip, leave rubbish out etc. to have
pride in the Borough?

- What additional campaigns should be put in place?
- How can ward members get involved further?
- How do we encourage more community involvement?

2.1.2 WORKSTREAM 2 – DETECTION & ENFORCEMENT

- How do we investigate and detect who has dumped rubbish – current practice?
- Get the message out about GBC prosecutions for littering etc - name and shame
- Digital solutions for the workforce
- Review current enforcement?
- Is there scope for further enforcement?

Appendix 2
Page 11



2.1.3 WORKSTREAM 3 – REMOVAL & CLEANSING

- Operatives and workforce:
- Are the teams told how important they are on a consistent basis?
- How do we engage the workforce? (listen and learn from them)
- Do the relevant teams pick up rubbish that they see on their way to a

scheduled job?
- Need to change the public’s view on how they view council staff / workforce

videos on what the workforce do on a daily basis.

- Relationship between GBC and KCC:
- Can we negotiate with KCC; when we find rubbish we will deal with it and

invoice KCC (and vice versa)
- Relationship and interconnection between all agencies: Police, KCC, Parish

etc. an umbrella group on street cleanliness?
- Review current working practices – hours/days covered
- Review equipment that operatives are using, both hand held and mechanical

– Is there scope for further improvement?
- Review of types of bins and emptying schedule
- Review if large containers should be placed in areas which have a number of

flats (conversions) and houses in multiple occupations

2.1.4 WORKSTREAM 4 – QUALITY ASSURANCE / QUALITY CONTROL

- Quality control: How can we make sure we find out about an incident of fly-
tipping ASAP?

- Is there scope to improve methods of digital reporting?
- Quality assurance: compare when fly-tipping reported to how efficiently the

item(s) are removed.
- How do we constantly check on the quality of the work being carried in the

Borough and levels of satisfaction?

2.2 As per the Scrutiny Procedure Rules (Annex 2.5 of the Constitution), the Committee will be 
informed of the response to any recommendations to cabinet, at the next available meeting 
following the Cabinet discussion.

3 Timeframe for activities

3.1 An initial timeframe for completion of the topic review of six months has been agreed 
although Members have agreed that ensuring the review is thorough and robust is critical 
and therefore, should the review need to go past this deadline, this will be acceptable.

3.2 Six months after the topic review is considered, an agenda item will be listed for the next 
available Overview Scrutiny Committee to receive a report on actions completed, their 
outcomes and the status of actions in progress.

Appendix 2
Page 12


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	7 Scrutiny Review of Street Cleanliness, littering, and Fly-tipping throughout the Borough
	Terms of Reference -Review of Street Cleanliness littering Fly-tipping




